A Reportl ng SerV| ce for EnV| ronment and Devel opment Negotlatl ons
Onlineat http://www.iisd.ca/unepgc/ieg2/

Vol. 16 No. 17

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)

Wednesday, 18 July 2001

SUMMARY OF THE SECOND MEETING OF
THE OPEN-ENDED INTERGOVERNMENTAL
GROUP OF MINISTERSOR THEIR
REPRESENTATIVES ON INTERNATIONAL
ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE:

17 JULY 2001
The second meeting of the Open-Ended I ntergovernmental

Group of Ministersor Their Representatives on International Envi-
ronmental Governance met in Beethovenhalle, Bonn, Germany on
17 July 2001. The United Nations Environment Programme
(UNEP) organized the meeting pursuant to decision 21/21 of the
UNEP Governing Council, which established an Open-ended
Intergovernmental Group of Ministersto undertake acomprehen-
sive policy-oriented assessment of weaknessesin existing interna-
tional environmental institutions, and to examine optionsfor
strengthened international environmental governance. Two
hundred participants from 75 countries were present, including 21
ministers and deputy ministers, experts, representatives from non-
governmental organizations (NGOs), UN-bodies and inter-govern-
mental organizations (1GOs). Delegates met for morning and after-
noon plenary sessions and listened to reports on the outcomes of
recent consultations of civil society and experts on international
environmental governance, and to hear statements by relevant
international organizations and national representatives on further
issuesin international environmental governance.

REPORT OF THE MEETING

Chair Karen Redman (Canada) opened the meeting on behal f
of David Anderson, President of the UNEP Governing Council and
Chair of the Open-ended Group, who was absent dueto injury. The
opening statement was made by President Anderson by telephone.
He said the purpose of this meeting wasto offer the next meeting a
basisfor substantive deliberation by providing the Governing
Council Bureau direction on how to converge issues. He under-
scored that the first meeting had indicated unanimous support for
the strengthening of UNEP, and stressed the need to involve the
widest range of interested parties and high level support. He
emphasized current weaknessesin the system, including the diffi-
culty to achieve coherence of international environmental efforts,
and the fragmentation of international instruments dealing with
environment.

REVIEW OF RECENT DEVELOPMENTSIN THE
IMPLEMENTATION OF GOVERNING COUNCIL
DECISION 21/21

UNEP Executive Director Klaus Topfer reported that conver-
gences reached in the inter-sessional period include agreement on:
the need for an evol utionary approach to international environ-
mental governance; the need to better define dimensions of inter-
national environmental governance; and the need to place
international environmental governancein the context of sustain-
able devel opment; involve other ministries at the national level;
and addressfinancing. Topfer put forth questions concerning: the

rolesand reform of the Global Ministerial Environment Forum
(GMEF) and the Environmental Management Group (EMG); clus-
tering of multilateral environmental agreeements (MEAS);
financing, status and authority of UNEP and itsrelationship with
other entities dealing with the environment; and how to define
international environmental governancein the context of sustain-
able development.

REPORT OF THE OUTCOME OF THE EXPERT
CONSULTATIONSON INTERNATIONAL ENVIRON-
MENTAL GOVERNANCE: RgjendraK. Pachauri, Tata Energy
and Resources I nstitute, and Lee A. Kimball, independent
consultant of international environmental law, presented a
summary of the outcome of the Expert Consultationsheldin
Cambridge, 28-29 May 2001. Pachauri emphasized the discus-
sionsonthefuturerole of UNEPin relation to sustainable develop-
ment, and the present financial constraintsthat are hindering
UNEP from meeting itsgoals. He noted that any discussion on
UNEP being converted into a specialized agency is premature.
Kimball identified three topicsthat were highlighted in
Cambridge: clustering of MEASs, the multi-layering of governance,
and the need to look beyond environmental governance.

REPORT OF THE OUTCOME OF THE CIVIL
SOCIETY CONSULTATIONSON INTERNATIONAL
ENVIRONMENTAL GOVERNANCE: SimoneLovera,
Friends of the Earth International, presented observations from the
Civil Society Consultations on International Environmental
Governance, held in Nairobi, 22-23 May 2001. She expressed
concern that the credibility of international environmental gover-
nanceisat stakeif key parties do not ratify the Kyoto Protocol to
the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC).
She highlighted the need for meaningful participation by civil
society; capacity building; and improving compliance and dispute
resol ution mechanisms.

Grace Akamu, Climate Network Africa, stressed the impor-
tance of thelocation of UNEPin Nairobi, asitistheonly UN
agency in adeveloping country.

CONTRIBUTION OF THE COMMITTEE OF PERMA-
NENT REPRESENTATIVESTO UNEP: The Committee of
Permanent Representatives (CPR) to UNEP stressed that UNEP
should be placed in the center of international environmental
governancein view of itsmandate accorded in Agenda 21. They
state that the principle expectation isthat international environ-
mental governancereformswill lead to fulfillment of the UN target
of 0.7% of developed countries GNP for ODA.

Mohamed T. El-Ashry, CEO and Chairman of the Global Envi-
ronment Facility (GEF), spokein hispersonal capacity. He
suggested that the international system of governance could be
made more effective by clarifying the environmental rolesand
mandates of all relevant organizations. He stated that UNEP
should maintain itskey rolein monitoring and assessing the state
of theenvironment and should oversee the environmental activities
undertaken by other UN organizations. El-Ashry called on partici-
pantsto trandate the rhetoric of the Nairobi Declaration into

Thisissue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Fiona Koza <fiona@iisd.org>, Prisna Nuengsigkapian <prisna@iisd.org>, and
Lisa Schipper <lisa@iisd.org>. The photographer is Leila Mead <leila@iisd.org>. The Operations Manager is Marcela Rojo <marcela@iisd.org> and the On-Line
Assistant is Diego Noguera <diego@iisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of 11SD Reporting Servicesis Langston James
"Kimo" Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the Government of Canada (through CIDA),
the United States (through USAID), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and L andscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International
Development - DfID, and the Foreign & Commonwealth Office), the European Commission (DG-ENV), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of
Germany (through German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the
Bulletin during 2001 is provided by the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Finland, the Government of Australia, the Ministry of Environment and the
Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade of New Zealand, the Ministries of Foreign Affairs and Environment of Norway, Swan
International, and the Japan Environment Agency (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies— IGES.) The Bulletin can be contacted by e-mail at
<enb@iisd.org> and at tel: +1-212-644-0204; fax: +1-212-644-0206. 11SD can be contacted by e-mail at <info@iisd.ca> and at 161 Portage Avenue East, 6th Floor,
Winnipeg, Manitoba R3B 0Y 4, Canada. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of 11SD
and other funders. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercia publications only and only with appropriate academic citation. For
permissionto usethismaterial incommercial publications, contact the Director of 11SD Reporting Services. Electronic versionsof the Bull etin are sent to e-mail distribution
listsand can befound on the Linkages WWW server at http://www.iisd.ca. The satellite image was taken above Bonn ©2001 The Living Earth, Inc. http:/livingearth.com.
For information on the ENB or to arrange coverage of ameeting, conference or workshop, send e-mail to the Director, I1SD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>.




Wednesday, 18 July 2001

Vol. 16 No. 17 Page 2

reality. Michael Zammit-Cutgjar, Executive Secretary of the
UNFCCC, speaking in his personal capacity, highlighted the lack
of success by the UN Conference on Environment and Develop-
ment in linking environment and devel opment. He underscored the
potential benefits of co-locating MEAs and meetings, but empha-
sized the difficulty in addressing thelegal distinction among instru-
ments. He said the problem of fragmentation had been initiated by
UNEPitself.

IUCN highlighted the importance of transparency and public
participation, and noted the need for acommon definition for inter-
national environmental governance. He announced IUCN’sinten-
tion to collaborate with UNEP on a communi cations strategy to
improve information dissemination. UNESCO supported an evolu-
tionary process that would involve coordination between different
UN organizationsworking on environmental issues. FAO called for
aclear definition of global commons especially with respect to
plant and genetic resources.

The BASEL CONVENTION outlined its attempts toward
strengthening the partnership between the chemical conventions.
She said that the best opportunitiesfor strengthening environ-
mental governance are found at theregional level. RAMSAR indi-
cated that thereisaneed to look at how MEAS can contributeto
poverty alleviation and sustainabl e devel opment. He questioned
the need for the Commission on Sustainable Devel opment (CSD),
and proposed changing the name of UNEPto UN “ Sustainable
Development Programme.”

UNDP noted that devel oping countries negotiate from aposi-
tion of weakness. He offered to organize regional meetingson
international environmental governance between now and the
World Summit on Sustainable Devel opment.

STATEMENTSBY MINISTERSOR THEIR
REPRESENTATIVES:

IRAN, for the G-77/CHINA, stressed that the concept of
sustai nable devel opment provide the overriding context and frame-
work within which theinternational environmental governance
process should proceed. He urged that no new international envi-
ronmental body be created and that better coordination of MEAsbe
the meansfor reaching the goals of sustainable development. He
also agreed that international environmental governance needsa
multi-layered, evolutionary approach and that consensus building
be associ ated with gradualism to benefit all but, in particular,
developing countries.

The EU proposed a more coherent and integrated institutional
environmental structure, inwhich all countries can participate on
an equal basis. SOUTH AFRICA, as host country for the World
Summit on Sustainable Devel opment, underscored his commit-
ment to ensuring that the Summit be an opportunity to significantly
strengthen the international environmental governanceregime. He
proposed guiding principlesfor anew regime, including: common
but differentiated responsibilities; integration of environmental
concernsinto the economic and social policy arenasincluding the
world trade and financial regimes; and the promotion of environ-
mental, economic, and social justice.

TheUNITED KINGDOM outlined the need for sustainableand
predictable funding for UNEP. With respect to the open-ended
meetings on international environmental governance, he empha-
sized theimportance of monitoring progresstoward targets set at
previous meetings. The US supported the GMEF process, and
emphasized the need to clarify how thisforum would differ from
the CSD. On the relationship between UNEP and the GEF, the US
said that competition for funding provided “ healthy tension”
thereby strengthening UNEP.

SWITZERLAND highlighted the shortcomings of the present
regime, including: insufficient commitment by the Statesto MEAS;
fragmentation of the regime; limited authority of UNEP; and struc-
tural/ institutional imbal ance between the environmental regime
and other regimes. He outlined the general principlesand criteria
for international environmental governance as. coherence; compre-
hensiveness; efficiency; and effectiveness. The CZECH
REPUBL I C stressed the importance of enforcing UNEP payments
by member countries and proposed that voting privileges be with-
held for countriesin arrears. KENYA called for focusing on

enhancing national capacitiesin developing countries, and imple-
menting international environmental agreements and national envi-
ronmental plans.

CHINA’s main concerns were how the objectives of interna-
tional environmental governance wereto be realized. He opposed
the formation of anew global environmental organization and
noted legal obstaclesthat might interferewith UNEP' sroleto
provide policy guidanceto MEAs. He al so disagreed with the
emphasis on linking trade with environmental technology asthis
might impact the interests of devel oping countries and reducetheir
contribution to the international environmental governance
process. BRAZIL noted the need to distinguish between technical
and political aspects of environmental issues and stressed the
importance of reconciling therole of Stateswith that of civil
society ininternational governance. Responding to the proposal for
asystematic approach to coordination of MEAs, BRAZIL had
doubtsin the usefulness of monitoring the decisionsof MEAsand
stressed the need to establish criteriafor comprehensive reportsif
they wereto berequired.

INDONESIA underscored the need to ensure effective mecha-
nismsfor technology transfer and financial assistancefor devel-
oping countries. FRANCE indicated support for transforming
UNEPinto aspecialized agency, suggesting that financing be based
on the UN scaleasfor other agencies.

SWEDEN underscored the importance of securefinancing for
UNEP and encouraged industrialized and middle-income countries
to consider how to providethis. He stressed the importance that
assessed or negotiated contributions be supplemented by innova-
tive sources of funding. He suggested that the clustering of chem-
ical conventions could be considered at the next meeting.

SENEGAL mentioned the absence of devel oping countries at
meetings and supported clustering of MEASsto assist devel oping
countriesin participating in agreementsthat they have signed.

CANADA recommended the GM EF as the accepted authority
for priority setting, advocated clarifying and optimizing EMG for
enhanced coordination, and suggested providing adequate
financing through leveraging with domestic finance ministers,
using the UN scaleto agree to a set contribution.

GERMANY recommended that the World Summit on Sustain-
able Devel opment could be the starting point for upgrading the
status of UNEP, with along-term view of establishing aworld envi-
ronment organization. JAPAN announced a contribution of
US$50,000 to the review processto strengthen international envi-
ronmental governance, and underscored the importance of seeking
private sector involvement. NORWAY suggested that UNEP bethe
political platform for international environmental governance,
facilitating interaction between al levels of society. She noted that
in order to achievethis, UNEP will need to have authority for inter-
governmental coordination.

In summary, Chair Redman outlined some common observa-
tions and statements made by the participants, and said thesewould
bereflected in aChair’s Summary that would beincluded in the
report of the Executive Director. She highlighted “ inter alia” the
sensethat the proliferation of meetings contributed to aloss of
policy coherence and areduced impact of the limited resources
available; support for international sustainable devel opment gover-
nance; support for astrong role for the EM G; the important rol e of
civil society; and the need to take into account the principle of
common but differentiated responsibility. Other issuesincluded
interest in some form of MEA clustering and the need for stable
funding and the use of the UN system of assessed contributions.

The G-77/CHINA noted that in light of UN General Assembly
resolution 53/242, UNEP should avoid involvement in disputes
regarding environmental management conflicts and that the minis-
teria forum should keep with the definition of its mandate.

CLOSURE OF THE MEETING

UNEP urged participantsto submit their responsesto the ques-
tions posed by the Executive Director. He also encouraged dele-
gatesto follow Japan’slead and provide financia contributionsfor
the process. Chair Redman thanked participants, the Secretariat,
the host city of Bonn, and theinterpreters and closed the meeting at
5:20 pm.



